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INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This case arises out of the abject failure of the Huron City School District and its 

leaders to protect its young female students in favor of their male counterparts who 

have committed sexual offenses against their fellow students, but are shielded from 

consequence due to their status as a Huron football player and wrestler. 

2. Specifically, the Plaintiffs bring these claims against the Defendants for their 

contribution to the sexual harassment suffered by their Junior High School age 
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daughter who was victimized through gross sexual imposition, exposure of the 

student’s genitalia during school hours and class time, the sending of unwanted lewd 

photographs, and constant harassment through lewd comments and physically 

pestered through throwing of pencils and purposefully harassing activities.  The 

Defendants knew about each of these incidents and the continuous nature of the 

harassment and did nothing to prevent the continued misconduct.  Instead, the 

Defendants went out of their way to protect and shield the young harasser from little, 

if any, consequence, so that he could continue his athletic career at the school and  in 

so doing, failed to provide a safe environment for the Plaintiff’s daughter to be 

educated. 

3. Now comes the Plaintiffs, Shawn and Michelle Jordan, individually and on behalf of 

their daughter, Plaintiff I.J., a minor, and brings this action against Defendants 

Huron City School District Board of Education (the "District" or "HCSB"); Dennis 

Muratori, individually, and in his official capacity as Superintendent of Huron City 

Schools; Chad Carter, individually, and in his official capacity as Principal of 

McCormick Junior High School; and Matt Jacobs, in his individual capacity and as 

an employee of McCormick Junior High School. 

4. Plaintiffs do not need to exhaust administrative remedies prior to filing this 

Complaint.​ ​Cannon v. University of Chicago​, 441 U.S. 677 (1979). 

5. No administrative remedies would redress the injuries I.J. suffered arising from John 

Doe’s sexual harassment and battery of I.J., and the District’s knowledge and failure 

to act promptly as the inaction forced I.J. to relocate her schooling. 
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6. This is a civil action for compensatory and punitive damages for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress and negligence for violations of Title IX of the 

Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 and Ohio R.C. 2151.421.  

7. Plaintiffs also seek injunctive relief and the implementation of training of individuals 

employed by Defendant District’s so these occurrences do not happen again.  

8. This action is brought to redress the injuries suffered by I.J. arising from John Doe’s 

sexual harassment and battery of I.J., and the District's knowledge of and failure to 

act promptly.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331, which gives district courts jurisdiction over all civil actions arising under the 

Constitution, laws, and treaties of the United States. 

10. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1343, which 

gives district courts original jurisdiction over (a) any civil actions authorized by law 

to be brought by any person to redress deprivation, under color of any State Law, 

statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage of any right, privilege, or immunity 

secured by the Constitution of the United States or by any Act of Congress providing 

for equal rights of citizens or of all persons within the jurisdiction of the United 

States; and (b) any civil action to recover damages or to secure equitable relief under 

any Act of Congress providing for the protection of civil rights. 

11. Plaintiff brings this action to redress a ​hostile educational environment​ pursuant to 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a) as more fully 
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set forth herein.  

12. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), since all Defendants 

reside in this district and the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this district. 

PARTIES  

13. Plaintiffs Shawn and Michelle Jordan (hereinafter referred to collectively as “The 

Jordans” and “Mr. Jordan” and “Mrs. Jordan” respectively) are the parents and 

natural guardians of I.J., and reside with I.J. in the Huron City School District in Erie 

County, Ohio.  

14. I.J. is a minor age fifteen who was at all times relevant to this Complaint, a student at 

McCormick Junior High School, the only junior high within the Huron City School 

District.  

15. The Defendant Huron City School District is a public educational institution located 

in Erie County, Ohio.  

16. At all material times, Defendants Paul Ward, Jody Mast, Donna Gree, John P. Jones, 

and Scott Slocum, in their official and individual capacity worked within Erie 

County, Ohio.  

17. At all material times, Defendants Paul Ward, Jody Mast, Donna Gree, John P. Jones, 

and Scott Slocum, in their official and individual capacity were members of the 

Huron City School District Board of Education. 

18. At all material times, Defendant Dennis Muratori, in his official and individual 

capacities, worked within Erie County, Ohio. 

19. During all material times, Defendant Dennis Muratori was an agent and/or employee 
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of Defendant Huron City School District, acting or failing to act within the scope, 

course, and authority of his employment and his employer. 

20. At all material times, Defendant Chad Carter, in his official and individual 

capacities, worked within Erie County, Ohio.  

21. During all material times, Defendant Chad Carter was an agent and/or employee of 

Defendant Huron City School District, acting or failing to act within the scope, 

course, and authority of his employment and his employer. 

22. At all material times, Defendant Matt Jacobs, individually and in his official capacity 

as an employee of the school and individual capacity, worked within Erie County, 

Ohio. 

23. During all material times, Defendant Matt Jacobs was an agent and/or employee of 

Defendant Huron City School District, acting or failing to act within the scope, 

course, and authority of his employment and his employer. 

24. Hereinafter the above named Defendants will be referred to collectively as 

Defendants. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

25. On approximately March 13, 2019, I.J. went to the McCormick Junior High School’s 

gymnasium for the last period of the day.  

26. The physical education teacher asked I.J. to retrieve volleyballs from the locker 

room. 

27. When she went into the locker room, a male student, John Doe, was waiting for her.  

28. John Doe’s home district for schooling is the Edison School District and he is 
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currently, and at all time relevant, openly enrolled in the Huron City School District. 

29. I.J. asked John Doe what he was doing in the girl’s locker room.  

30. John Doe responded with “You don’t get to ask questions.” 

31. John Doe then pushed I.J. against the lockers and put his hands down her pants in an 

attempt to touch her genitals. 

32. John Doe was able to get his hands in between her pants and underwear before she 

kneed him and ran out of the locker room. 

33. As is consistent with the conduct of a victim of sexual assault, I.J. was not able to 

inform her parents or any other person of this assault immediately following the 

assault.  

34. Just weeks later, she was able to fully report the incident in detail to the school, her 

parents, and the police. 

35. The school failed to protect her from further abuse and harassment. 

36. During this same approximate time, I.J., as well as other students, were receiving 

lewd pictures and videos from John Doe of John Doe’s genitalia.  This conduct was 

continued harassment that was perpetuating his gross sexual assault in the locker 

room.  

37. John Doe sent pictures of his genitalia to I.J. on or about March 2nd through March 

6th. 

38. John Doe sent videos of himself ejaculating, telling I.J. he was thinking of her when 

he does this.  

39. I.J. repeatedly told John Doe to leave her alone and to stop sending her the lewd 
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pictures and videos.  

40. Another family informed I.J.’s mother, Mrs. Jordan, what was happening.  

41. On approximately March 19, 2019, Mrs. Jordan contacted John Doe’s mother.  

42. When she answered the phone, John Doe’s mother asked, “What has he done now?” 

43. Mrs. Jordan set up a meeting with John Doe's mother and father at John Doe’s home. 

44. John Doe’s father put all the family portraits on the dining room table and told John 

Doe that he had disappointed all of them.  

45. John Doe admitted to sending the pictures and apologized to everyone, he then 

called the other students who he had sent lewd photos to who were not present at the 

meeting to apologize. 

46. On March 20, 2019 another family whose daughter (Jane Doe 1) was also receiving 

inappropriate pictures talked to Detective Matt Jacobs of the Huron Police 

Department about the pictures sent to the girls’ phones by John Doe.  

47. Detective Jacobs, the investigating officer throughout the entire investigation, is also 

an employee of the Huron City School District and serves as the wrestling coach of 

John Doe at Huron High School. 

48. Detective/Coach Jacobs recommended that they should delete any pictures/videos 

John Doe sent their daughter and to inform the Jordans to either call him or delete 

the pictures/videos.  

49. Detectives/Coach Jacobs explained that both families could all be charged with child 

pornography if the pictures or items were discovered or reported before the families 

filed a report. 
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50. I.J. came home from school very upset due to the fact that John Doe harassed her the 

entire day, saying, “You know you wanted these,” referring to his lewd pictures and 

videos.  

51. Mrs. Jordan called Detective/Coach Matt Jacobs that evening and set up an 

appointment at the Huron Police Department for 8am the next morning.  

52. Mr. and Mrs. Jordan met with Detective/Coach Jacobs at the Huron Police 

Department on March 21, 2019.  

53.  Mr. and Mrs. Jordan explained to Detective/Coach Jacobs everything that had 

happened with the inappropriate pictures and the meeting with John Doe's parents.  

54. Detective/Coach Jacobs indicated that he knew John Doe well and was not surprised 

that John Doe was committing these offensive acts.  

55. Detective/Coach Jacobs knew John Doe personally, since he was his wrestling coach 

at Huron City Schools.  

56. Detective/Coach Jacobs said that he told the wrestling team not to send these 

pictures, but he said they kept doing it because that is how kids “date” nowadays.  

57. Huron City Schools had knowledge that members of the wrestling team were 

sending young female students lewd pictures and when it was reported to the school 

and the police that the pictures were unwanted and part of bullying and harassing 

behavior, the Huron City Schools did nothing to prevent future misconduct and did 

nothing to keep I.J. safe from the bullying and sexual harassment. 

58. Mr. and Mrs. Jordan left I.J.’s phone with Detective/Coach Jacobs, so he could 

download the inappropriate pictures and videos with the intent that the evidence 
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would be used to prosecute John Doe for this illegal conduct toward their daughter. 

59. The Jordans later learned from the Prosecutor that Detective/Coach Jacobs never 

sent the evidence of this illegal harassment to the Prosecutor’s office.  Instead, 

Detective/Coach Jacobs, kept the evidence to himself and made false statements 

regarding the contents of I.J.’s phone to third parties in order to disparage I.J.and 

further shield John Doe from consequence. 

60. On March 21, 2019, Mr. and Mrs. Jordan went to McCormick Junior High School to 

meet with Principal Chad Carter and Detective/Coach Jacob to sit in on I.J.'s 

interview regarding her report of being the victim of these lewd photos from John 

Doe. 

61. I.J. detailed the multiple times that John Doe exposed himself in front of her and to 

her at school. 

62. At this point, as of March 21, 2019, the principal of the Junior High and the 

Detective in charge who also is an employee of the school, are on unequivocal notice 

that they have a duty to protect I.J. from further harassment.  

63. At this point, Detective/Coach Jacobs saw the photos of John Doe, sent by him to I.J. 

on I.J.’s phone.  

64. John Doe has admitted that he in fact sent these photos. 

65. Even in light of this notice, the School did nothing to separate John Doe from I.J., 

did nothing to return him to his home district, did almost nothing to provide a 

consequence to John Doe, and allowed John Doe unfettered access to I.J. which 

allowed for continued harassment.  
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66. By failing to take action and to give consequence to John Doe, the school district 

promoted the harassment and bullying of the victim I.J. 

67.  I.J. also told Principal Carter and Detective/Coach Jacobs that John Doe showed his 

phone to I.J. and another female student (Jane Doe 2) that had pictures of John Doe’s 

penis on them.  

68.  I.J. also stated that Jane Doe 2 told her that John Doe had been exposing himself to 

her during choir class at school the entire school year.  

69. John Doe also told I.J. and Jane Doe 2 that he took pictures up another female 

student’s skirt.  

70. Mr. and Mrs. Jordan were told that the school would contact the parents of Jane Doe 

2 to discuss the issue. 

71.  Mrs. Jordan told them that Jane Doe 2’s parents wanted to be called when they 

interviewed Jane Doe 2 because she had anxiety issues.  

72. They assured Mrs. Jordan that they would and never did.  

73. To this day, they have not called the parents of Jane Doe 2.  

74.  I.J. left school for the day after her interview was completed. 

75. Detective/Coach Jacobs brought I.J.’s phone back the next day, March 22, 2019.  

76. Detective/Coach Jacobs stated that there was nothing on the phone incriminating I.J., 

and showed Mrs. Jordan how to check her phone in spots that kids like to hide 

pictures they do not want adults to see.  

77. Detective/Coach Jacobs said that he would expect the school to suspend him for ten 

days.  
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78. This suspension did not occur, a shorter five day suspension was given. The school 

failed to provide sufficient consequence to ensure the safety of the victims. 

79. Had John Doe been given a ten day suspension (the standard and expected 

consequence)  he would not have been eligible to be accepted as an open enrolled 

student for the 2019/2020 school year.  

80. Mr. and Mrs. Jordan noted that the pictures and videos were deleted off of I.J.’s 

phone. Detective/Coach held the only proof of the illegal misconduct by John Doe. 

81. Detective/Coach Jacobs informed them he would make a report and submit it to the 

Erie County Prosecutor’s office. He failed to send the evidence of the wrongdoing 

along with the report. 

82. Detective/Coach Jacobs informed the Jordans that he could not conduct an interview 

with John Doe since his family hired an attorney.  

83. The following week was spring break, and instead of being suspended, John Doe 

was in school when they returned Monday, April 1, 2019, sending a clear message to 

I.J. that she would not be offered a safe educational work environment.  In fact, John 

Doe was seated next to her in almost all of her classes and nothing was done to move 

him. 

84. Chad Carter told Mrs. Jordan that Detective/Coach Jacobs conducted an interview 

with John Doe over Spring Break; however, Mr. Carter was not invited.  

85. Later, John Doe received a mere five (5) day suspension (as referred to above). 

86. John Doe returned to school April 8, 2019, and immediately restarted his continuous 

and repeated harassment of I.J.  
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87. Mr. Jordan called Superintendent Dennis Muratori on April 8, 2019.  

88. Mrs. Jordan communicated with Chad Carter about the harassment I.J. was facing, 

and Principal  Carter said, this is “just how kids are,” that he did not want to contact 

John Doe's family, and that the Jordans’ would not “win” on this. 

89. Mr. Jordan talked to Superintendent Muratori on April 9, 2019, and Mr. Muratori 

stated that there was nothing that could be done about John Doe because no one 

witnessed the harassment.  

90. This of course was untrue.  There is a significant number of witnesses to the 

continued harassment and there is corroborative evidence of the gross sexual 

imposition in the locker room.  

91. Further, John Doe admitted to most of the misconduct in front of five witnesses. 

92. Mr. and Mrs. Jordan instructed I.J. to go to the office and tell someone when John 

Doe is harassing her.  

93. On April 10, 2019, John Doe’s seat was located immediately next to I.J.’s and he 

repeatedly threw pencils at I.J. and struck her head.  

94. Another student, John Doe 2, told John Doe to stop. 

95. I.J. went down to the office to inform the principal, and when Mr. Carter saw her he 

said, “God dammit.”  This was a clear indication to I.J. that the Principal of the 

school was unhappy that this female student was standing up for herself in her 

attempts to free herself from the harassing behavior.  

96. He listened to what she had to say and then told her to go back to class.  

97. Mr. Carter called John Doe down to the office and John Doe said he did not do it.  
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98. Mr. Carter told I.J. there was nothing he could do.  

99. The school did nothing to determine if any other children were eyewitnesses.  

100. The school failed to take action after McCormick Junior High School student, John 

Doe 2, stated in an interview that he had seen John Doe throwing the pencils at I.J. 

and told him to stop.  

101. The school failed to take action within the classroom to ensure that I.J. was safe and 

free of harassment. 

102. The school failed to inform the teachers that I.J. and John Doe should be separated to 

ensure that I.J. had a classroom environment that was suitable for her educational 

needs. 

103. In every class, I.J.’s seat was located next to John Doe, even after the pencil 

throwing and striking incident, the school did not move his or her seat.  

104. Because of the close proximity, John Doe was able to continue harassing I.J. during 

class time and before and after class as a direct and proximate result of the school’s 

failure to take action to protect I.J. from the harassment and proximity of John Doe. 

For example, John Doe would repeatedly whisper into I.J.’s ear that she “liked it” 

and “wanted it” during class referring to the sexual harassment, imposition, lewd 

photographs and his unwanted exposures of his genetalia.  

105. Mr. Jordan called Mr. Muratori and Mr. Carter about these incidents and reported the 

repeated incidents in detail.  

106. I.J. repeatedly reported to the school the details of John Doe’s conduct toward her 

and specifically conveyed to Mr. Muratori and Mr. Carter the incidents.  She further 
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told Mr. Muratori and Mr. Carter (the school staff she was instructed to 

communicate with) that some of the most egregious conduct could been seen on the 

school’s security cameras. 

107. Principal Carter claimed he pulled camera footage and said he did not see anything 

to substantiate her claims, but he conveniently pulled footage from a different day 

and time.  

108. Principal Carter and the school failed to take reasonable and necessary steps to 

review the correct footage and save that footage. 

109. Instead, Principal Carter and the School District took steps to shield John Doe from 

consequences for his harassment of I.J. and failed to provide a safe and suitable 

education environment for her. 

110. Superintendent Muratori admitted to Mr. Jordan that they had “dropped the ball” by 

not moving I.J.’s seat away from John Doe. 

111. During the entire duration that I.J. continued in the Huron school system, John Doe 

continued to harass I.J. at school.  

112. As a direct and proximate result of the school’s failure to provide I.J. with a safe and 

suitable education environment,  I.J.’s grades slipped and Mr. and Mrs. Jordan had a 

difficult time making I.J. go to school.  

113. On May 15, 2019, I.J. told her mother about the locker room assault.  

114. On May 16, 2019, Mrs. Jordan called the Prosecutor’s office and also informed 

Detective/Coach Jacobs.  
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115. On May 21, 2019, the Jordans met with Prosecutor Cheryl Goodrum to discuss all 

details of the current charges and details of the locker room assault.  

116. Ms. Goodrum informed the Jordans that Detective/Coach Jacobs, (the coach of John 

Doe) never sent the pictures and videos from I.J.’s phone.  

117. Goodrum also tells the Jordans that John Doe just turned his phone in, but refused to 

give his Apple password. The High School wrestling coach did not take reasonable 

steps to investigate the evidence in John Doe’s phone.  The actions interfered with 

I.J.’s ability to have a safe and suitable educational environment. 

118. On May 22, 2019, Detective/Coach Jacobs called Mr. and Mrs. Jordan and asked if 

they wanted to be present for the interview with Chad Carter and himself regarding 

the locker room assault.  

119.  Mr. and Mrs. Jordan met them at the school at 10:15a.m. on May 22, 2019.  

120. I.J. was called down to the office for the meeting and became very distant, consistent 

with the diagnosis of PTSD,  upon finding the adults that were tasked with 

protecting her, but continuously failed to do so, assembled there for the meeting.  

121. I.J. detailed the incident for Prosecutor Cheryl Goodrum on May 21, 2019 in a one 

on one meeting.  

122. Prosecutor Cherly Goodrum conveyed to the Jordans that she believed I.J.’s story 

given the specific details I.J. was able to give.  

123. During the interview I.J. conveyed three days of intimidation of her by John Doe. 

These events included John Doe yelling over her head to individuals on the other 

side of her. When he was corrected by a teacher and told to stop, the next day he 
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altered his behavior so as to not break the rules. Finally, on the third day he began 

whispering in her ear that she “liked it” and “wanted it.”  

124. I.J. later informed her parents that the reason she was crying was because she felt 

Mr. Carter and Detective/Coach Jacobs did not give her any support or help the last 

two months and felt this would make it worse.  

125. This lack of support is reflected by their failure to present these facts to the Board 

despite other students conveying they had seen John Doe’s treatment of I.J. 

126. I.J. asked that her father leave the room for the interview because she did not want to 

have him hear what happened.  

127. I.J. went back to class and shortly after Detective/Coach Jacobs came down and 

retrieved John Doe from class to speak with him.  

128.  On their way out, I.J. and Jane Doe 2 heard and watched Detective/Coach Jacobs 

pat John Doe’s back and say “it’s ok buddy….we got this.”  The message was 

clearly sent to I.J., that the school, including the Detective/wrestling coach and the 

principal, would ensure that John Doe would be shielded from any significant 

consequence and that the victims of his conduct would be the ones to bear the 

burden. 

129. There is nothing in the police report pertaining to any statements, interviews or 

investigative results from questioning John Doe in regard to exposing himself to I.J. 

in the gym.  
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130. Detective/Coach Jacobs interviewed I.J.’s teacher Mr. Demos, John Doe’s teacher 

Mr. Schoenherr and another student John Doe 2 pertaining to the March 13, 2019 

assault.  

131. Detective/Coach Jacobs asked John Doe’s teacher (Mr. Schoenherr) if John Doe was 

ever out of the classroom for an extended period of time or ever left class. 

Schoenherr indicated that he did not leave the class.  However, John Doe was tardy 

that day to the class which is exactly when the incident occurred, and this fact is 

conspicuously absent from the Report.  

132. The incident happened at the beginning of the period, and Mr. Shoenherr knew that 

John Doe was tardy.  

133. When I.J. walked out of the locker room John Doe 2 asked her if she was okay and 

I.J. said “No, I don’t feel good.” 

134. Detective/Coach Jacobs’ report stated that because it was the end of the day he was 

going to come back and question the students.  

135. Mr. Jordan talked to Detective/Coach Jacobs regarding the incident.  

136. Detective/Coach Jacobs indicated to Mr. Jordan that upon questioning John Doe, 

John Doe excused his behavior of exposing himself to I.J. by blaming another 

student claiming he was “de-pantsed”.  

137. At no time did John Doe claim that I.J. was not exposed to his genitalia during the 

school day. 

138. Even under John Doe’s version of the facts, I.J. was exposed to the genitalia during 

the school day of an individual who was continuously harassing her. 

17 

Case: 3:21-cv-00587  Doc #: 1  Filed:  03/15/21  18 of 30.  PageID #: 18



139. The School did nothing to ensure that I.J. had the freedom and space to be educated 

in an environment that is free of harassment. 

140. In fact, John Doe continued to sit directly next to I.J. in class throughout this period.  

141. No punishment or consequence was administered to John Doe, which bolstered his 

bullying and harassing behavior, when in fact the School should have been working 

to put a stop to it. 

142. John Doe continued to harass I.J. and would not leave her alone. 

143. On May 24, 2019, Mrs. Jordan called Mr. Carter and begged him to separate I.J. and 

John Doe’s seats in class and handle the situation.  

144. John Doe was arrested May 27, 2019 on the charges associated with sending pictures 

of his genitalia to I.J. and other victims.  

145. The arraignment was conducted on May 28, 2019.  

146.  John Doe was charged with two counts of pandering and two counts of public 

indecency.  

147. On June 10, 2019 John Doe pleaded guilty to one count of pandering. 

148. On June 10, 2019 the District accepted John Doe as an open enrolled student for the 

2019/2020 school year. 

149. John Doe was released on house arrest with an ankle monitor.  

150. The terms of John Doe’s house arrest were that he was only to leave home to attend 

mandatory school activities.  

151. That evening, June 10, 2019, the Jordans received a phone call that he was at 

football practice.  

18 

Case: 3:21-cv-00587  Doc #: 1  Filed:  03/15/21  19 of 30.  PageID #: 19



152. Prosecutor Goodrum confirmed to the Jordans that John Doe should not be at 

football practice according to the plea agreement. 

153. The Jordans found out that the entire football coaching staff was put on the adult 

supervision list of John Doe. 

154. The School skirted the probation rules of the Court by adding coaches to the 

supervision list in order to shield John Doe from any consequences, further 

bolstering his position to harass his victims.  

155. The Jordans contacted Mr. Muratori and were told that he was unable to discuss 

another student’s discipline with them.  

156. At that time John Doe was in violation of his house arrest when he was allowed to 

attend football practice as practices are not considered mandatory school activities.  

157. While at football practice, John Doe told other students/teammates to “make life 

hell” for I.J. and the other victims. 

158. During an incident on July 11, 2019 other students, at the prompting of John Doe, 

screamed at I.J. calling her “John Doe’s whore.” 

159. The football coaches and Superintendent did nothing to stop the student athletes 

from harassing I.J.  

160. Mr. Jordan called the school board and was able to speak with Jodie Mast, Vice 

President of the Huron Board of Education. 

161. Ms. Mast was sympathetic and warned Mr. Muratori that he was “flirting with 

litigation.” Still, nothing was done.  The School continued to support the activities of 
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John Doe and leave I.J. on her own to attempt to find an adequate place to be 

educated free of the harassment and bullying. 

162. On July 16, 2019, the Huron City School Board held an executive meeting and 

adjusted mandatory football practices to begin immediately, and not the standard 

August 1st commencement date of mandatory practices, thus bending to the needs of 

John Doe in a demonstration of clear favoritism, despite the full knowledge of his 

harassing, bullying and criminal conduct toward multiple young female students 

including I.J.  

163. The District claimed that they had no knowledge of the charges against John Doe, 

but the Board’s Meeting Minutes throughout this period show comments made by 

board members that clearly indicate they were on notice.  

164. The School Board designated football coaches as “Supervising Adults” over John 

Doe, thus proving they were on notice that John Doe had pled guilty to the criminal 

charges and required supervision.  

165. The School Board’s decision was a direct contradiction to the House Arrest and was 

made to shield the male football players and wrestlers at the expense of the safety 

and education of the female students in the school. 

166. Superintendent Muratori told the Jordans it was not the school’s job to enforce the 

house arrest, sending a clear message to I.J. that she would not be protected from 

sexual harassment, bullying and other harassment at school. 

167. Superintendent Muratori told the Jordans that he could not talk about the state of the 

punishment against John Doe and must “remain neutral.”  
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168. As a direct and proximate result of the harassment and the environment created and 

promulgated by the District, I.J. continued to suffer, and on July 31, 2019 admitted 

to her mother that she had been harming herself.  

169. The next morning Mr. and Mrs. Jordan took I.J. to the family doctor, and she was 

later admitted into Fairview Hospital in Cleveland from August 1-5, 2019. 

170. I.J. was diagnosed with PTSD and major depressive disorder as a direct and 

proximate result of the harassment and the environment created and promulgated by 

the School. 

171. At Mr. and Mrs. Jordan’s own expense, I.J. now attends a private school, so that 

their daughter is not subjected to continued harassment and abuse.  

172. The other victims have also chosen to attend other schools.  

173. Further, I.J. attempted suicide in February of 2020 along with Jane Doe 1 as a direct 

and proximate result of the harassment and the environment created and 

promulgated by the School. 

COUNT ONE: 
Defendant’s Failed to Comply with the Requirements of Title IX of the Education 

Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 
 

174. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein all previously pleaded averments. 

175. The Defendants subjected Plaintiff to a hostile educational environment in violation 

of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a) (“Title IX”), 

because 

a. Plaintiff, as a female, was a member of a protected class; 
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b. She was subjected to sexual harassment by another student during hours 

where Defendants had substantial control of the students and the 

environment; 

c. She was subjected to harassment based on her sex; and 

d. She was subjected to a hostile educational environment created by the School 

District’s failure to properly investigate and/or address the sexual assault and 

harassment.  

176. The sex-based harassment articulated in Plaintiff’s allegations above was so severe, 

pervasive, and objectively offensive that is deprived Plaintiff of access to 

educational opportunities or benefits provided by the school.  

177. The harassment I.J. suffered at the hand of John Doe was so severe that it effectively 

barred I.J.’s access to educational opportunities and benefits in violation of Title IX. 

Examples of the harassment include: 

a. John Doe sending unsolicited pictures of his genitalia to I.J. and other 

classmates. 

b. John Doe sending videos of himself ejaculating to I.J. while telling her he 

was thinking of her.  

c. John Doe attempting to touch I.J.’s genitals by shoving his hands down her 

pants during I.J.’s gym period. 

d. John Doe antagonizing I.J. by telling her things such as: “you know you 

wanted these” (in reference to the pictures of his penis he had sent to her), 

telling I.J. she “liked it” and “wanted it” during class, and telling the 
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McCormick Junior High School’s Football Team to “make life hell” for I.J. 

after charges were filed against him regarding the sending of the pictures of 

his penis.  

e. John Doe exposing himself to I.J. multiple times. 

f. John Doe throwing pencils at I.J’s head while seated next to her in class. 

g. John Doe repeatedly striking I.J’s head while seated next to her in class. 

178. Defendants acted with willful, deliberate, and intentional indifference to the 

harassment that I.J. suffered at the hands of John Doe  by: 

a. Ignoring I.J.’s detailing of the multiple times John Doe had exposed himself 

to her. 

b. Making no investigation into I.J.’s claims that John Doe had shown her and 

another student images of his penis he had on his phone. 

c. Making no investigation into the claims that John Doe had taken pictures up 

a female classmate’s skirt. 

d. Defendant Carter telling the Jordans “this is just how kids are,” that he did 

not want contact with John Doe’s family, and that the Jordans “would not 

win on this” when the Jordans approached him about the harassment I.J. was 

suffering. 

e. Taking no action to separate I.J. and John Doe’s seats in class after being told 

by I.J. about the harassment she was facing, going as far as ignoring the 

begging of the Jordans to have the seats moved. 
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f. Failing to tell I.J. and John Doe’s teachers about the complained of 

harassment.  

g. Defendant Muratori admitting to the Jordans that the school had “dropped the 

ball” by failing to move I.J. or John Doe’s seat. (4/9/19) 

i. Defendant Muratori was going to talk to Chad Carter and move her seat in 

every class; the Jordans were told it happened, but I.J. said it never did. 

h. Intentionally reviewing the incorrect location and time of the security 

camera’s recordings and therefore failed to take appropriate efforts to 

substantiate I.J.’s claims.  

i. Allowing John Doe to violate house arrest for a non-mandatory school events 

by designating football coaches as supervising adults, despite constructive 

notice that John Doe had pled guilty to the criminal charges he faced in his 

actions against I.J. 

179. Defendants breached their duty to provide an equal opportunity to education to I.J. in 

violation of Title IX by failing to take any immediate, effective remedial steps to 

investigate or mitigate the harm from the harassment I.J. was suffering because of 

John Doe’s actions. 

180. Defendants’ failure to promptly and appropriately respond to the alleged sexual 

assault and harassment, resulted in Plaintiff, on the basis of her sex, being excluded 

from the opportunities and benefits of an education in violation of Title IX. 

181. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breach, Plaintiff, I.J., has suffered 

emotional distress and psychological damage, and her character and standing in her 
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community have suffered from the harassment fostered as a direct and proximate 

result of Defendants’ deliberate indifference to her rights under Title IX.  

182. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breach, Plaintiffs have suffered 

extensive and irreparable damages and are entitled to compensatory damages, 

punitive damages, costs, and attorney’s fees in an amount to be determined by a jury, 

but well more than $25,000. 

 
COUNT TWO 

Failure to Supervise 
 

183. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein all previously pleaded averments. 

184. As employees of the Huron City School District, Defendants had a duty to supervise 

all students that are members of the school district during the school day and while 

at events substantially controlled by the school.  

185. Defendants failed to supervise their employees and their students with respect to 

harassment, bullying and sexual harassment of I.J. Including but not limited to the 

following examples: 

a. On March 13, 2019 Defendants failed to supervise John Doe during the last 

period of the day and that failure allowed for John Doe to sneak into the 

school’s gym and assault I.J. 

b. The Principal and Superintendent were fully aware of the conduct of John 

Doe with respect to I.J. And they did nothing to move John Doe away from 

I.J. During class.  The seats were directly next to each other and were not 

moved for two months. 
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c. The Principal and Superintendent did nothing to remove the harassing party 

from the school district when the harasser was open enrolled and the policy 

of open enrollment should have resulted in the student being returned to his 

home district. 

d. The Principal and Superintendent failed to supervise the teachers and coaches 

of the school to ensure that the harasser was not given access to I.J. to 

continue his harassment. 

186. In multiple incidents throughout the remainder of the school year, Defendants’ 

failure to supervise John Doe allowed him to harass I.J.  

187. Defendants’ failures to supervise John Doe were the direct and proximate cause of 

the attempted assault and harassment I.J. suffered from. 

188. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ negligence, Plaintiffs have been 

irreparably damaged. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages, punitive 

damages, costs, and attorney’s fees in an amount to be determined by a jury, but well 

more than $25,000.  

COUNT THREE 
Negligence 

 
189. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein all previously pleaded averments. 

190. As officials in a school setting, Defendants had a duty to provide all students with 

the same access to education. Included in this is the duty to protect students from the 

known harassment of other students.  

191. Defendants breached this duty when they failed to investigate the claims of 

harassment I.J. made against John Doe and failed to take any steps to mitigate or 
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prevent the harassment from continuing to occur, effectively barring her access to an 

equal opportunity for an education. 

192. Defendants failure to take the necessary steps are the direct and proximate cause of 

the continuing harassment of I.J. at the hands of John Doe. 

193. Plaintiffs suffered harms directly and proximately caused by Defendants breach. 

These harms include but are not limited to: 

a. The continued harassment of I.J. by John Doe. 

b. The taunting of I.J. by other students. 

c. I.J.’s hospitalization at Fairview Hospital in Cleveland. 

d. I.J.’s diagnosis with PTSD and major depressive disorder. 

e. I.J.’s suicide attempt in February 2020. 

f. Plaintiffs’ relocation of I.J.’s schooling to a private school at Plaintiffs’ 

expense.  

194. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ negligence, Plaintiffs have been 

irreparably damaged. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages, punitive 

damages, costs, and attorney’s fees in an amount to be determined by a jury, but well 

more than $25,000.  

COUNT FOUR 
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

 
195. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate herein all previously pleaded averments. 

196. Defendants failure to take any action to protect I.J. given Plaintiffs’ repeated 

reporting of the harassment she was suffering at the hands of John Doe and their 
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knowledge of the criminal investigation being conducted against John Doe was 

reckless.  

197. Defendants’ repeated failures were so outrageous they would cause emotional 

distress in any reasonable person. 

198. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ failures to act I.J. suffered severe 

emotional distress as reflected by the time she spent at Fairview Hospital in 

Cleveland and her February 2020 suicide attempt.  

199. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ negligence, Plaintiffs have been 

irreparably damaged. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages, punitive 

damages, costs, and attorney’s fees in an amount to be determined by a jury, but well 

more than $25,000.  

 

WHEREFORE, ​Plaintiffs Shawn and Michelle Jordan, individually and on behalf of 

their minor daughter I.J., respectfully pray that judgment be entered in their favor in an amount 

to be determined by a jury but well more than $25,000. Plaintiffs further pray for an award of 

actual, compensatory, and punitive damages, for an award of costs and attorneys’ fees as 

outlined here, as well as whatever additional legal and equitable relief the Court might find just 

under the circumstances.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/Leslie O. Murray_________ 
Leslie O. Murray (0081496) 
Direct: (419) 677-6689 
Leslie@lesliemurraylaw.com 
/s/John T. Murray___________  
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John T. Murray (0008793)  
Direct: (419) 656-2042 
John@lesliemurraylaw.com 

  LESLIE MURRAY LAW LLC 
 316 E. Water St 

Sandusky, OH 44870 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JURY DEMAND 

Pursuant to Rule 38(B) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby demand 

a trial by jury on all issues. 

 

/s/ Leslie O. Murray_________ 
Leslie O. Murray (0081496) 
/s/John T. Murray___________   
John T. Murray (0008793)  

 
 
 

29 

Case: 3:21-cv-00587  Doc #: 1  Filed:  03/15/21  30 of 30.  PageID #: 30



JS 44   (Rev. 10/20) CIVIL COVER SHEET
The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as 

provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the 

purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.    (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff County of Residence of First Listed Defendant

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF 
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)

II.  BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff 

and One Box for Defendant) (For Diversity Cases Only)

1 U.S. Government 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF

Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State 1 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 4 4

of Business In This State

2 U.S. Government 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State 2 2 Incorporated and Principal Place 5 5

Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) of Business In Another State

Citizen or Subject of a 3 3 Foreign Nation 6 6

Foreign Country

IV.  NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES

110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY 625 Drug Related Seizure 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 375 False Claims Act

120 Marine 310 Airplane 365 Personal Injury  - of Property 21 USC 881 423 Withdrawal 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 

130 Miller Act 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))

140 Negotiable Instrument Liability 367 Health Care/ 400 State Reapportionment

150 Recovery of Overpayment 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 410 Antitrust

& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 820 Copyrights 430 Banks and Banking

151 Medicare Act 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 830 Patent 450 Commerce

152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability 368 Asbestos Personal 835 Patent - Abbreviated 460 Deportation

Student Loans 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application 470 Racketeer Influenced and

(Excludes Veterans) 345 Marine Product Liability 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations

153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR 880 Defend Trade Secrets 480 Consumer Credit

of Veteran’s Benefits 350 Motor Vehicle 370 Other Fraud 710 Fair Labor Standards Act of 2016 (15 USC 1681 or 1692)

160 Stockholders’ Suits 355 Motor Vehicle 371 Truth in Lending Act 485 Telephone Consumer

190 Other Contract Product Liability 380 Other Personal 720 Labor/Management SOCIAL SECURITY Protection Act

195 Contract Product Liability 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations 861 HIA (1395ff) 490 Cable/Sat TV

196 Franchise Injury 385 Property Damage 740 Railway Labor Act 862 Black Lung (923) 850 Securities/Commodities/

362 Personal Injury - Product Liability 751 Family and Medical 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Exchange
Medical Malpractice Leave Act 864 SSID Title XVI 890 Other Statutory Actions

REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS 790 Other Labor Litigation 865 RSI (405(g)) 891 Agricultural Acts

210 Land Condemnation 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: 791 Employee Retirement 893 Environmental Matters

220 Foreclosure 441 Voting 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act FEDERAL TAX SUITS 895 Freedom of Information

230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 442 Employment 510 Motions to Vacate 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff Act

240 Torts to Land 443 Housing/ Sentence or Defendant) 896 Arbitration

245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations 530 General 871 IRS—Third Party 899 Administrative Procedure

290 All Other Real Property 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION Act/Review or Appeal of

Employment Other: 462 Naturalization Application Agency Decision
446 Amer. w/Disabilities - 540 Mandamus & Other 465 Other Immigration 950 Constitutionality of

Other 550 Civil Rights Actions State Statutes

448 Education 555 Prison Condition

560 Civil Detainee -

Conditions of 

Confinement

V.  ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)

1 Original

Proceeding 

2 Removed from

State Court

3 Remanded from

Appellate Court 

4 Reinstated or

Reopened

5 Transferred from

Another District
(specify)

6 Multidistrict

Litigation - 

Transfer

8  Multidistrict

Litigation -

Direct File

VI.  CAUSE OF ACTION

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

Brief description of cause:

VII.  REQUESTED IN

COMPLAINT:
CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION
UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. 

DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

JURY DEMAND: Yes No

VIII.  RELATED CASE(S) 

          IF ANY (See instructions):
JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER

DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE

26 USC 7609

ERIE ERIE

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681

Failed to Comply with the Requirements of Title IX, 20 U.S.C. § 1681, Negligence, Failure to Supervise, Intentional infliction of emotional distress

Case: 3:21-cv-00587  Doc #: 1-1  Filed:  03/15/21  1 of 4.  PageID #: 31

SHAWN AND MICHELLE JORDAN, 
INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THEIR MINOR DAUGHTER I.J.

See attached list

Leslie Murray 
John Murray
Leslie Murray Law

316 E. Water St
Sandusky, OH 44870
Ph. 419-502-1024

In excess of $75,000

X

X

X

X



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

I. Civil Categories: (Please check one category only ).

1. General Civil

 2. Administrative Review/Social Security

 3. Habeas Corpus Death Penalty

*If under Title 28, §2255, name the SENTENCING JUDGE:

          CASE NUMBER:

II. RELATED OR REFILED CASES.  See LR 3.1 which provides in pertinent part: "If an action is filed or removed to this Court

and assigned to a District Judge after which it is discontinued, dismissed or remanded to a State court, and

subsequently refiled, it shall be assigned to the same Judge who received the initial case assignment without regardfor

the place of holding court in which the case was refiled.  Counsel or a party without counsel shall be responsible for

bringing such cases to the attention of the Court by responding to the questions included on the Civil Cover Sheet."

This action: is RELATED to another PENDING civil case is a REFILED case

If applicable, please indicate on page 1 in section VIII, the name of the Judge and case number.

III. In accordance with Local Civil Rule 3.8, actions involving counties in the Eastern Division shall be filed at any of  the

divisional offices therein.  Actions involving counties in the Western Division shall be filed at the Toledo office. For the

purpose of determining the proper division, and for statistical reasons, the following information is requested.

ANSWER ONE PARAGRAPH ONLY. ANSWER PARAGRAPHS 1 THRU 3 IN ORDER.  UPON FINDING WHICH

PARAGRAPH APPLIES TO YOUR CASE, ANSWER IT AND STOP.

(1) Resident defendant. If the defendant resides in a county within this district, please set forth the name of such
county

COUNTY:

Corporation For the purpose of answering the above, a corporation is deemed to be a resident of that county in 

which it has its principal place of business in that district.

(2) Non-Resident defendant. If no defendant is a resident of a county in this district, please set forth the county

wherein the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred.

COUNTY:

(3) Other Cases. If no defendant is a resident of this district, or if the defendant is a corporation not having a principle

place of business within the district, and the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred outside

this district, please set forth the county of the plaintiff's residence.

COUNTY:

IV. The Counties in the Northern District of Ohio are divided into divisions as shown below.  After the county is

determined in Section III, please check the appropriate division.

EASTERN DIVISION

  AKRON (Counties: Carroll, Holmes, Portage, Stark, Summit, Tuscarawas and Wayne)
  

CLEVELAND
(Counties: Ashland, Ashtabula, Crawford, Cuyahoga, Geauga, 

Lake, Lorain, Medina and Richland)

YOUNGSTOWN (Counties: Columbiana, Mahoning and Trumbull)

WESTERN DIVISION

  TOLEDO (Counties: Allen, Auglaize, Defiance, Erie, Fulton, Hancock, Hardin, Henry, 
 Huron, Lucas, Marion, Mercer, Ottawa, Paulding, Putnam, Sandusky, Seneca

 VanWert, Williams, Wood and Wyandot)

was PREVIOUSLY REMANDED

✔

ERIE

✔

Case: 3:21-cv-00587  Doc #: 1-1  Filed:  03/15/21  2 of 4.  PageID #: 32



JS 44 Reverse (Rev. 10/20)

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as 

required by law, except as provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is 

required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.  Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of 

Court for each civil complaint filed.  The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows: 

I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.  Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant.  If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use   

only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then 

the official, giving both name and title.

   (b) County of Residence.  For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the 

time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land 

condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.) 

   (c) Attorneys.  Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record.  If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting  
in this section "(see attachment)". 

II.   Jurisdiction.  The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings.  Place an "X" 

in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. 
United States plaintiff.  (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348.  Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. 

United States defendant.  (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. 
Federal question.  (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment 

to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes 

precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked. 
Diversity of citizenship.  (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states.  When Box 4 is checked, the  

citizenship of the different parties must be checked.  (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity  

cases.) 

III.   Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties.  This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above.  Mark this 

section for each principal party. 

IV. Nature of Suit.  Place an "X" in the appropriate box.  If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code  

that is most applicable.  Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions. 

V.  Origin.  Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes. 

Original Proceedings.  (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts. 

Removed from State Court.  (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.   

Remanded from Appellate Court.  (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action.  Use the date of remand as the filing 

date. 

Reinstated or Reopened.  (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court.  Use the reopening date as the filing date. 

Transferred from Another District.  (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a).  Do not use this for within district transfers or

multidistrict litigation transfers. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer.  (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. 

Section 1407. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File.  (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.  

PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7.  Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to  

changes in statue. 

VI.  Cause of Action.  Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause.  Do not cite jurisdictional  

statutes unless diversity.  Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service. 

VII.  Requested in Complaint.  Class Action.  Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. 

Demand.  In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. 

Jury Demand.  Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. 

VIII.   Related Cases.   This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any.  If there are related pending cases, insert the docket  

numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. 

Date and Attorney Signature.  Date and sign the civil cover sheet. 
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HURON CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT
712 CLEVELAND ROAD EAST
HURON, OH 44839

and

HURON CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION, PAUL WARD, JODY MAST,
DONNA GREEN, JOHN P. JONES, AND SCOTT SLOCUM, IN THEIR OFFICIAL AND
INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY AS BOARD MEMBERS
712 CLEVELAND ROAD EAST
HURON, OH 44839

and

DENNIS MURATORI, INDIVIDUALLY, AND IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS
SUPERINTENDENT OF HURON CITY SCHOOLS,
423 GATEWAY BLVD
HURON, OH 44839

and

CHAD CARTER, INDIVIDUALLY, AND IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS PRINCIPAL OF
MCCORMICK JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL,
923 GLENVIEW DR.
HURON, OH 44839

and

MATT JACOBS,
INDIVIDUALLY, AND IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY
AS AN EMPLOYEE OF MCCORMICK JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL,
339 BRUNSWICK DR.
HURON, OH 44839
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